

Legislative Report to the General Assembly: PRELIMINARY FINDINGS OF THE COMMISSION ON THE FUTURE OF PUBLIC EDUCATION IN VERMONT

December 20, 2024

Submitted by The Commission on the Future of Public Education in Vermont

Table of Contents

Legislation and Background	3
Act 183	3
Membership	3
Organization of the Work	4
Guiding Principles	5
Preliminary Findings	6
Current Vermont Context	6
A Call to Action	7
Reasonable Timeframes for Impact	7
Status of Data Analysis	8
Preliminary Data Findings	8
Initial Policy Exploration	11
Recommendations To The General Assembly	12
Affirm the purpose of the Commission moving forward	12
Continue to ensure substantive, equitable community engagem	ent 13
Conclusion	13



Legislation and Background

This report is submitted by the Commission pursuant to <u>Act 183 of 2024 Sec. (f)(2)</u> to the General Assembly as a written report containing its preliminary findings and considerations.

Act 183

Act 183 of 2024: An act relating to homestead property tax yields, non homestead rates, and policy changes to education finance and taxation.

The Act established the Commission on the Future of Public Education in Vermont (hereafter referred to as the Commission) to "study the provision of education in Vermont and make recommendations for a statewide vision for Vermont's public education system to ensure that all students are afforded substantially equal educational opportunities in an efficient, sustainable, and stable education system." The Act requires the Commission to make recommendations in a number of policy areas. The Commission has organized its work by identifying the following three major policy categories:

- I. *Education finance system*: Recommendations geared toward an education funding system that affords substantially equal access to a quality education in accordance with *Brigham vs. State*
- II. *Education governance, resources, administration*: The structure and needs of the Agency of Education (AOE); the composition, role, and function of the State Board of Education (SBE); the roles, functions, and decisions of local control v. state control; and integration of career and technical education.
- III. *Physical size and footprint of the education system*: The most efficient and effective number and locations of school buildings, districts, and supervisory unions. This includes recommendations regarding workforce retention & capacity (driven by class-size data) and the legal and financial impact of Vermont's town tuition program for non-operating school districts, including recommendations for tuitioning outside of Vermont and the use of private therapeutic schools.

Membership

The Act defines the membership of the Commission as follows:

- 1. The Secretary of Education or designee
- 2. The Chair of the State Board of Education or designee
- 3. The Tax Commissioner or designee
- 4. One current member of the House of Representatives, appointed by the Speaker of the House
- 5. One current member of the Senate, appointed by the Committee on Committees
- 6. One representative from the Vermont School Boards Association (VSBA), appointed by the VSBA Executive Director



- 7. One representative from the Vermont Principals' Association (VPA), appointed by the VPA Executive Director
- 8. One representative from the Vermont Superintendents Association (VSA), appointed by the VSA Executive Director
- 9. One representative from the Vermont National Education Association (VTNEA), appointed by the VTNEA Executive Director
- 10. One representative from the Vermont Association of School Business Officials (VASBO) with experience in school construction projects, appointed by the President of VASBO
- 11. The Chair of the Census-Based Funding Advisory Group, created under 2018 Acts and Resolves No. 173
- 12. The Executive Director of the Vermont Rural Education Collaborative
- 13. One representative from the Vermont Independent Schools Association (VISA), appointed by the President of VISA

Additionally, the Act specifies the creation of a Steering Group, comprised of two Commission members appointed by the Speaker of the House, two Commission members appointed by the Committee on Committees, and two Commission members appointed by the Governor. The Chair of the Commission is jointly selected by the Speaker of the House and the President Pro Tempore.

Organization of the Work

The Commission met for the first time on July 15, 2024, and has established the following general meeting structures:

- The full Commission meets on the first Monday of each month (with exceptions for holidays and other calendar reasons).
- Subcommittees of the Commission meet as needed, but at minimum once per month on the third Monday of each month (again with exceptions for holidays and other calendar reasons). There are currently three named subcommittees of the Commission: The Communication & Engagement subcommittee, the Steering Group, and the Education Finance Subcommittee (appointed by the Steering Group).

The Commission also adopted a <u>Workplan Framework</u> that organized the work around three policy recommendation areas: Education Finance System, Governance, Resources and Administration, and the Education Delivery System. The Commission understands that there are many policy areas in the Act that we are charged with investigating, and all of those areas intersect with each other. Our organization of the work into these three broad areas is to help bring clarity to our process. This report will refer to these three areas broadly.

The Commission also adopted a <u>Communication and Engagement framework</u> that will be updated and expanded with the hiring of a Communication & Engagement consultant. The Commission is cognizant of the fact that we are limited to the perspectives of the thirteen members and therefore need to spend time and energy seeking the input of Vermonters across



the state as well as communicating in an accessible and thoughtful manner. We have chosen to contract with outside experts in this regard.

Guiding Principles

The Commission recognizes the complexity of the policy issues it is charged with addressing. As it navigates discussions about current and future recommendations, Commission members agreed to develop a set of <u>Guiding Principles</u> that would clearly articulate the basis for their decisions. These principles represent a consensus of the Commission and include the following:

• State Responsibility for Education in Vermont

In the *Brigham vs. State* 166 Vt. 164 (1997), the Vermont Supreme Court held that the State has a constitutional obligation to provide public education, and while "[t]he state may delegate to local towns and cities the authority to finance and administer the schools within their borders; it cannot, however, abdicate the basic responsibility for education by passing it on to local governments, which are themselves creations of the state." The Commission acknowledges the tension that exists between this responsibility and authority, and Vermont's tradition of local decision making, and will continue to explore the balance between the two.

• Equity

The Commission is committed to decision making that centers equity for Vermont students. While there is a recognition that operationalizing the term "equity" is a complex and varied task, the Commission is committed to the following core understandings of equity:

- Equity does not mean equal/same.
- Solutions with an equity focus must be differentiated by need.
- Equity must be considered both in terms of inputs (access) and outputs (outcomes).

• Quality

All publicly funded Vermont students must be afforded high quality educational opportunities that are equitable, inclusive, anti-racist, culturally responsive, and antidiscriminatory, as defined in Vermont State Board of Education Rules. The Commission acknowledges that the SBE rules focus primarily on inputs and that school accountability and student outcomes are critical.

• Sustainability & Affordability

The Commission understands that public education in Vermont must be sustainable and affordable for Vermont taxpayers, so that the commitment to Equity and Quality can be sustained over time. This requires a comprehensive look at the education finance system, including both how education dollars are raised and how we spend those funds.



Preliminary Findings

Current Vermont Context

The work of the Commission exists in a highly challenging and complex policy environment. The FY25 budget season resulted in a failure of nearly one-third of Vermont school budgets and almost unprecedented increases in property taxes. Despite the reductions in spending made after failed budget votes, property taxes still increased. Our state's education finance challenges exist in relation to other intractable affordability challenges in the state - rising costs of goods, services, labor and healthcare, a catastrophic housing shortage and enrollment decline. We must acknowledge the impact of these issues on Vermont's education system.

Further, the issue of cost (and tax impact) is not one of just local district spending. The policy areas referenced in Act 183 are included because of a recognition that all of them intersect, and together impact the ultimate investment in and cost of public education in Vermont.

Education finance is not simply local school district spending decisions. It encompasses spending (including spending based on Federal and state requirements that school districts have little control over and associated cost drivers - healthcare, personnel costs, school construction, tuition, special education, mental health), revenue generation (how we raise the funds needed to support our schools) and the uses of the Education Fund (what we choose to fund with our "education dollars").

School budget decisions about how education is delivered in a community are defined largely at the local level. Our governance structures (local school boards) make decisions about how we deliver education based on the needs of their communities (including the number of schools to operate, whether we choose to tuition students to other public and independent institutions, and the subsequent tuition, staffing and other costs that are required). Yet, our funding system is shared at the state level. The entire state bears the investment responsibility for decisions made locally.

As an example of this complexity: Imagine a local school district developing its budget. The local administration engages its teachers, staff and community to propose a budget to its locally elected school board. This budget supports the delivery model (the number of schools and classrooms or tuition) that the local district has selected. For those districts who do not operate schools, this budget also includes tuition to other public schools or to independent schools - tuition rates that they may not have any authority to change. Thus, Vermont's <u>education</u> <u>finance system</u> must support <u>delivery models</u> that are largely selected based on <u>governance and administration structures</u>.

This complexity is outlined in more detail in the Agency of Education's recent report: <u>Vermont</u> <u>Education Funding System Explained</u>, where there are additional examples of how the education finance system is impacted by Vermont's approach to school governance and delivery.

The Commission believes it is critical for all those involved in discussions about education finance to be clear about the intersection of these policy areas.

A Call to Action

The Commission wishes to elevate a collective call to action for citizens, legislators, school board members and public and independent school staff alike. Vermont has a **shared responsibility** for the education of our youth. Delivering on this responsibility will require us to collaborate around broad transformational policy changes in each of the identified areas: education finance, governance & administration and our education delivery system. It will require that Vermonters think deeply about solutions and challenge our assumptions about the causes.

It is the belief of the Commission that real solutions will include changes to **all three policy consideration areas**, and we wish to begin this report by elevating that finding. There is no "silver bullet solution."

Reasonable Timeframes for Impact

Act 183 requires a deep study of prior legislation, the collection and analysis of significant amounts of data (not all of which are readily available) and a deep and sustained engagement with collaborators across the state before making recommendations. Still, it asks the Commission to make preliminary recommendations, including recommendations for "short term cost containment" in time for consideration in the 2025 legislative session. The Commission is committed to providing the General Assembly substantive information to inform its upcoming discussions; however, we also need to be clear that the timeline given to us arguably does not allow the Commission to undertake the work in the way the Act requires.

The public school budget process is not only well underway as of the writing of this report - it will be nearly at its conclusion by the beginning of the legislative session. This limits the ability of the General Assembly to take action on spending alone. This does not mean that school districts have not been engaged in their own work on cost containment measures. In August, the collective education organizations (Vermont Superintendents Association, Vermont School Boards Association, and the Vermont Association of School Business Officials) released a collaborative budget memo to inform school districts in time to impact the budget process. Their memo included an analysis of the current situation and some concrete suggestions. The Governor communicated with education leaders in a letter dated September 9, 2024, and a letter dated October 31, 2024, speaking primarily about the spending component of the challenge. And, the FY26 Education Tax Rate Letter was released this month.

The Commission has conducted its work in earnest, understanding the importance of providing the legislature with substantive policy options that could address the challenges facing Vermont. It is important for the General Assembly to understand that cost containment in this session is necessary but not sufficient, and substantive change in the three policy areas will be required to fully address the challenges in the long term.



Status of Data Analysis

Given the complexity noted above, clear, valid and accurate data is essential. Any eventual policy recommendation will need data during the discussion phase (to determine whether it is a valid recommendation), the analysis phase (to determine and model the impacts of any recommendation) and for ongoing evaluation of success. The Commission has been, and will continue to be, data-driven in its focus.

In August, the Steering Group identified a number of data sources that would be important for the Commission to review in order to inform its discussions (see this initial <u>Data Framework</u>). In subsequent meetings, the Commission and the Education Finance Subcommittee received a number of reports regarding these data sources. At its November 4th meeting, the Commission again reviewed the data framework to determine what had been provided and what still needed to be collected (as well as what the timeline would be for providing it).

The Agency of Education has collected and monitored the requests for data made by this Commission and through its own Listen and Learn Tour. It is important to note that data and reporting has been historically limited in Vermont, and the current Agency staff has worked hard in a very short timeframe to gather, analyze, and report on a significant amount of data. They have also conducted a thorough data validation process with the field to make data refinements and corrections as needed.

The Agency has developed a comprehensive listing of the data requests and the status of those reports as it pertains to information it can provide, including timelines for information not readily available. The most recent version of this working document is included in Appendix A

Preliminary Data Findings

While it is beyond the scope of this initial report to summarize all of the data reviewed by the Commission to date, a few specific data sources have informed the findings noted above about Vermont's complex education policy context. Specifically:

The Agency of Education's revised <u>Vermont State Education Profile Report</u> acknowledges that Vermont's education ecosystem is complex with respect to its school and district organization, budgeting process, and its approach to education delivery model (including tuitioning students). The report presents data available through 2022-23, as fiscal year 2024 expenditure data are still in the annual review cycle and 2023-24 state assessment results are still preliminary. Highlights from the report include:

• **Vermont Ecosystem:** Vermont is unique in terms of its school, district and supervisory Union/Supervisory District (SU/SD) organization, budgeting process, and its approach to tuitioning students. There are 80,179 students enrolled in Vermont public schools, and 3,554 publicly funded students that are tuitioned to other settings. Compared to other states, Vermont has some of the smallest schools (46th in terms of school size) and has the highest staff levels (1st in terms of the highest number of teachers and staff per 100 pupils). Vermont is 1st highest in



terms of total expenditure per pupil (data updated since rerelease of the State Education Profile Report). When looking at how Vermont students compare to students in other states on the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP), Vermont ranks highly for reading and near the average for math; performance has been trending down over time.

• **Enrollment Trends:** Between 2003-04 and 2022-23, overall total enrollment (including prekindergarten, K-12 and adult) in Vermont public schools decreased by 14.3 percent, while K-12 enrollment decreased by 21.5 percent. SU/SDs ranged in size in 2022-23 from 176 to 4,216 students in terms of total enrollment.

• **Student Demographic Trends:** The statewide student demographic picture is fairly similar in recent years, with some increases for special education (+0.7%) and English Language Learners (+0.3%). Observed declines in the number of students eligible for free and reduced-price lunch (FRL) likely do not reflect a decline in need, but instead are due to administrative changes related to the shift to universal school lunch. Demographics varied widely between SU/SDs, with smaller SU/SDs, on average, having higher percentages of students in special education and who are economically disadvantaged. SU/SDs with higher FRL tend to also have higher proportions of ELL and special education students.

• **Student Outcome Trends, Assessments:** Prior to the pandemic (2015-2019), the percentage of students who were proficient and above ranged from 51-57 percent in English Language Arts (ELA), and from 34-49 percent in Math. There was variance by grade band, especially for Math. Post-pandemic (2021-2022), proficiency rates were about 10 percent lower for all grade bands and subjects, but 2022-23 results on the new Vermont Comprehensive Assessment Program appear higher than 2021-22 results (however, using a new assessment makes comparison difficult). With either assessment program, the state has recorded persistent achievement gaps when comparing subgroups (FRL, ELL and Special Education) on ELA and Math across all grade bands. Vermont student performance on the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP), while historically high in reading, has been declining since 2015, trending toward the national average.

• **Student Outcome Trends, Graduation Rates:** Looking at both 4-year and 6-year graduation rates in Vermont, rates peaked in 2018-19, at 85 and 92 percent respectively, and have remained lower post-pandemic.

• **Staffing, Staffing Levels:** Since 2019-20, the number of teachers, leaders, student support, and support service staff per 100 students has increased. On average, staffing levels were related to SU/SD size, with the number of staff per 100 students increasing as SU/SD size decreased. Staffing (specifically teachers and student services) was somewhat higher in higher need settings. It is important to note that the infusion of federal funding to address the pandemic may have influenced the staffing levels during this time period and raises questions about the sustainability of staff levels in future years.

• **Staffing, Average Staff Salaries:** Between 2019-20 to 2022-23, average salaries have increased for all personnel categories by 5.1 to 11.0 percent. Larger SUs tended to have higher average salaries than smaller SUs in most personnel



categories. Lower need SU/SDs also had higher salaries than SU/SDs serving students with higher needs.

• Expenditures, Total Expenditures Per Long Term Average Daily Membership (LTADM):¹ Since FY20, statewide total expenditures have increased from 1.88 billion to 2.23 billion, or an 18.5 percent increase, in part due to increased federal funding to address the impact of the pandemic.

• Expenditures, Operating Expenditures Per Long Term Average Daily Membership (LTADM): Operating expenditures focus on a subset that excludes expenditures from capital, debt service, enterprise, trust and permanent funds. Operating expenditures per LTADM have increased from \$20,631 to \$25,253, or a 22.4% change since FY20. Again, this is in part due to increased federal funding to address the impact of the pandemic. Operating expenditures per LTADM appears to be largely related to size of setting, as well as FRL.

• Expenditures, Education Fund Expenditures Per Long Term Average Daily Membership (LTADM): Finally, just looking at Education Fund expenditures focuses on those expenditures funded by the state, in large part through property taxes. Between FY20 and FY23, Education Fund expenditures per LTADM have increased by 16.5%. Education Fund expenditures per LTADM are highest in smaller settings, but there is minimal difference in Education Fund expenditures between SU/SDs based upon need.

• Expenditures, Special Education Expenditures Per Special Education Student: Statewide special education expenditures in SU/SDs increased between FY20 to FY23, from \$26,156 to \$28,281 per special education student. This increase of 8.1%, compared to a much larger increase of 18.5% for overall total expenditures, is likely due to the availability of federal pandemic relief funds. As a result, even though special education costs increased, the share of total expenditures for special education decreased from 21.5 to 19.6%.

In summary, Vermont is unique in terms of how it organizes and funds its education system. Compared to other states, Vermont schools tend to be smaller and more highly staffed, as reflected in its higher cost per pupil. Enrollment has declined significantly over the past twenty years and continues to decline post-pandemic. In terms of performance, Vermont compares well to other states in reading and about average for math. However, there are persistent achieve gaps for economically disadvantaged, English Learner and special education student groups. Differences exist between communities based on their size and need, reflected in differences in staffing, salaries, and expenditures. Overall, education expenditures from all sources (local, state and federal) have been increasing since 2019-20, including expenditures funded by the state's Education Fund and taxpayer contributions. However, when looking only at expenditures from the state's Education Fund, expenditures are not meaningfully higher in higher need communities. This analysis pre-dates the new weights included in Act 127, which went into effect in the 2024-25 school year. The Agency recently completed a thorough data collection for FY25 budgets to calculate how the new weights may account differently for student needs, though actuals won't be available until next year.

Page 10 of 13



The report on <u>Vermont's Education Finance System</u> echoes this Commission's identification of education finance, governance and delivery models as critically intersected:

- "The connection between local budgets, statewide spending, and individual tax bills is not straightforward..." (pg 11)
- Vermont's system of local governance makes it challenging to make uniform decisions across the state to ensure education equity and quality, and to moderate spending.
- Local decision making about education delivery (from the number of schools, classrooms and staff to curriculum standards and implementation of evidence based practices) causes wide variability in student experiences across the state

Through the report, the Agency of Education compares Vermont's education funding system to other states and offers starting points for future policy considerations, including:

- Revise the statewide education funding formula to promote strategic budgeting, academic improvement, and predictability of education taxes, recognizing that any formula change would involve assumptions about education delivery and meeting diverse student needs
- Create scale to promote more equitable learning opportunities for students across the state, ensuring all students receive a well-rounded education and access to specialized educators, rich program offerings, and a wide range of electives
- Align staffing to enrollment and student needs (especially given Vermont's workforce shortage), including considerations related to administration, sharing staff, class size, and reinvesting in higher teacher salaries.

As a follow-up to the report, the Agency of Education presented the fundamentals of a foundation formula to the education finance subcommittee for further discussion and consideration.

The Commission will continue to engage with data as it completes its work over the course of the year. In particular, specific data will need to be reviewed for each of the potential policy actions considered by the Commission

Initial Policy Exploration

The Commission is committed to providing the General Assembly information to inform the 2025 session. We believe that the contextual information above is critical in its own right to inform any potential actions. By design, this report does not include policy recommendations, and the inclusion of the following process summary should not be interpreted as the Commission's endorsement of any specific ideas at this point. The following summary is provided to inform the legislature of the breadth of potential policy actions and to further convey the complexity of both the challenges and potential solutions. The Commission will continue to engage in a deeper analysis of these and other potential policy actions in order to provide formal recommendations as charged in Act 183.



A brainstorm process was conducted separately by both the Finance Subcommittee and the full Commission to surface a large number of ideas (many that have been considered in the past). There is significant overlap between those policy ideas brainstormed by the full Commission and the Subcommittee, and a number of these have also been raised during the Commission's early community engagement opportunities. These and future ideas surfaced in subsequent meetings will be taken into consideration.

The Education Finance Subcommittee has organized its discussion of potential policy actions using a number of factors that will be helpful for the General Assembly. These factors include:

- A description of the action
- The policy goal that could be achieved by the action
- The earliest effective date
- The date when cost savings may be realized
- The fiscal impact
- The extent to which the action is aligned with the Guiding Principles identified by the Commission
- Discussion

The Education Finance Subcommittee has organized a <u>working documen</u>t of initial ideas to begin exploring the viability, timing, and potential impact of various policy considerations. As an initial brainstorm, the list does not represent policy recommendations and should not imply support from Commission members for any individual proposal. Given the short timeframe, the full Commission has not formally engaged in data review or discussion about each item in the Finance Subcommittee's working document and, as such, has declined to include the working document as a formal appendix.

The Commission believes that this initial brainstorm has surfaced important questions and factors that will guide the Commission's future analysis and recommendations.

Recommendations to the General Assembly

Affirm the purpose of the Commission moving forward

The Commission was established with a charge of making policy recommendations to define the future of public education in Vermont. We are also keenly aware of the current reality, and the potential for the general assembly to initiate policy actions this session. From the Agency and Administration to the General Assembly to members of the public: There are many efforts being undertaken to resolve the issues identified in this report. The Commission believes it is critical to ensure these efforts remain cohesive even as varying perspectives are taken into consideration. The Commission can play a role in ensuring that policy recommendations are thoroughly analyzed, and can use its communication and engagement apparatus to provide real-time opportunities for input on potential ideas.

rage 12 01 13

Legislative Report. Commission on the Future of Public Education (Issued: December 20, 2024)

VEKMON I

Continue to ensure substantive, equitable community engagement

The Commission continues to affirm the need for deep community engagement designed to bring additional voices and perspectives to this work, including those entities outlined in Act 183. This is true even as we understand the urgency for action this session. The Commission has prioritized community engagement by initiating a contract with a communication and engagement firm to further refine and implement our engagement strategies. This can help provide the general assembly critical avenues for hearing from others about potential policy actions.

The Commission understands (and has acknowledged) that the Agency of Education is engaged in its own input-gathering process for the development of its strategic plan. We certainly benefit from the data gathered and have worked to create synergy with this body of work to support the Commission, as noted on the <u>Agency's website</u>. The Commission's charge outlined in Act 183, however, differs in scope, timing, and prescription. As such, the Commission is in the process of contracting with a consultant to support expanded public outreach and engagement to capture perspectives related to the General Assembly's exploration of short-and long-term education policies.

Conclusion

Substantive change will require difficult decisions and significant political will. The Commission believes that it is important for the general assembly to use the Commission as the body it created to bring important perspectives to this work. It is uniquely suited to analyze the intersecting policy challenges within the context of its guiding principles of Equity, Quality, Sustainability and Affordability and make critical recommendations in 2025.

